FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/1/2019 3:14 PM

No. 97165-0 COA No. 77177-9-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STANLEY and DONNA SALTZBERG, Petitioners,

v.

# CHUCKANUT CAPITAL, PLLC, Respondent.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE BETH ANDRUS, JUDGE

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark G. Olson, WSBA 17846 Olson Law Firm, PLLC 3600 15<sup>th</sup> Ave. W., Suite 200 Seattle, WA 98119 (425)388-5516 Phone mark@mgolsonlaw.com

Michael A. Maxwell, WSBA 21781 Maxwell Graham, P.S. 535 E. Sunset Way Issaquah, WA 98027 mike@maxwellgraham.com

Counsel for Petitioners

# I.

### III. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners, Stanley and Donna Saltzberg, ask this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part IV.

### IV. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

Petitioners ask the Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision filed February 5, 2019, and its order denying reconsideration filed April 1, 2019, both of which are attached as Appendix 1.

### V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In an action for serious injuries sustained when a pedestrian tripped and fell over illegally placed landscape bricks, may the commercial owner of the residential property testify or argue that its ignorance of the local city code should be considered in its defense?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's ruling denying Saltzbergs' motion in limine number 22 which would have precluded Defendant from testifying or arguing that its ignorance of the local city code should be considered in its defense?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court in its decision to reject Saltzberg's proposed jury instruction No. 34 that "ignorance of the law" was not

an excuse for violating the city code requiring a 12" setback for the safety of the pedestrian public?

4. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with the prior decision of the Supreme Court in *Leschner v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 27 Wn.2d 911 (1947) and similar published opinions of the court of appeals holding that ignorance of the law is not an excuse for non-compliance?

## VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 5, 2013 at approximately 5:40 p.m., Petitioner Stanley Saltzberg was walking to his car after work at the Park Shore Retirement Community located on 43<sup>rd</sup> Ave. E, in the Madison Park neighborhood of Seattle. After departing the lobby, Saltzberg crossed the street to the west side of 43<sup>rd</sup> Ave. E., walking southbound on the sidewalk. Less than two minutes after leaving the lobby of Park Shore, he reached the corner of 43<sup>rd</sup> Ave. E. and E. Garfield, intending to turn right and walk westbound on the city sidewalk alongside property owned by defendant Chuckanut Capital LLC. As he turned the corner, his right foot caught an unmarked brick on the corner of defendant's property immediately adjacent to the public sidewalk. Saltzberg lost his balance and fell, injuring his left wrist and right shoulder.

The parties do not dispute that the raised bricks on Defendant's property violated City of Seattle Code which requires a 12" setback for any object above grade.

### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Saltzberg filed suit in September 2015, and subsequently amended his complaint to include his wife and a loss of consortium claim. Defendant answered by admitting that it owned the rental property in question but denying any liability; defendant also asserted several affirmative defenses.1

Pre-trial litigation resulted in decisions establishing as a matter of law that Saltzberg sustained reasonable and necessary medical expenses of \$197,116.79 and that Saltzberg's injuries resulted in permanent disability and loss of employment from his long-term position with the Park Shore Retirement Center. In other pre-trial rulings the trial court dismissed all of Chuckanut's affirmative defenses with the exception of comparative fault.<sup>2</sup>

In June 2017, the Honorable Beth Andrus presided over a jury trial in King County Superior Court. Prior to trial Saltzbergs moved in limine to preclude Chuckanut or its counsel from testifying or arguing that it was unaware or ignorant of the 12" setback requirement of Seattle city code.<sup>3</sup> That motion was denied; at trial the only "defense" to negligence presented by Chuckanut was that it was ignorant of the law requiring the defendant to remove the bricks which ultimately caused Saltzbergs' injuries. Defendant argued no other reason for justification for noncompliance other than ignorance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP, at 1-5, 6-9. <sup>2</sup> CP, at 13-14, 15-17, 21-22; CP, at 10-12. <sup>3</sup> CP, at 130-132.

At the conclusion of trial, Saltzberg moved the Court to instruct the jury that it was not to consider Chuckanut's ignorance of the law as an excuse for non-compliance.<sup>4</sup> The Court rejected the proposed instruction. After brief deliberation, the jury found that Chuckanut was not negligent.<sup>5</sup> Post verdict interviews with some of the jurors reflected that Chuckanut's testimony and argument of "ignorance of the law" played a substantial role in the jury's deliberations.<sup>6</sup> Saltzberg timely filed a Motion for New Trial.<sup>7</sup> The trial court denied the motion.<sup>8</sup> Saltzbergs subsequently filed this appeal.<sup>9</sup>

Petitioners timely filed a notice of appeal.<sup>10</sup> Petitioners' appeal was heard on January 8, 2019 by a panel of Division I of the Court of Appeals. On February 5, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision affirming the judgment of the trial court; on April 1, 2019, the same panel denied appellants' motion for reconsideration. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(a), Petitioners file this Petition for Review.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

# A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION MERITS REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4 (b) (4).

RAP 13.4 (b) (4) provides: "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only... [i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Petitioners present an issue of substantial public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP, at 146-185, 278-81

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RP, v. 3, at 598.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP, at 227-277.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP, at 215-226.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP, at 336-338.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP, at 342-351.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 1217-1218

importance: whether, in a civil action for personal injuries a defendant owner of residential property may assert in his defense that he was ignorant of the law requiring a 12" setback. The use of the "ignorance of the law" defense, successful in this case, has obvious implications across the spectrum of civil actions in the state of Washington where statutory or regulatory duties are mandated.

While nearly every tort claim begins with common law negligence, additional and more explicit duties for the benefit of public safety are imposed by state and local governments throughout this state and country. These additional duties come in the form of speed limits, building codes, electrical codes, etc. Allowing tortfeasors to cite their subjective beliefs about what is and is not known about the law subverts the purpose of legislative requirements of conduct.

As a matter of sound public policy, ignorance of the law should not be grounds for the assertion of an affirmative defense to tort actions arising from the breach of statutory and regulatory duties. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's denial of Plaintiff's proposed motion in limine and its denial of the requested jury instruction reiterating the "ignorance is no defense" axiom.

# B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION MERITS REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4 (b) (1) AND (2).

Furthermore, the unpublished Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court and a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Consistent with other jurisdictions throughout the country, the Supreme Court has held

that "ignorance of the law excuses no one." Leschner v. Department of Labor & Industries, 27 Wn.2d 911, 926, 185 P.2d 113 (1947). In Leschner, the Court was presented with an administrative argument in a worker's compensation claim that the Department of Labor & Industries should be allowed to consider meritorious claims filed later than the statutory period for "equitable reasons." The Court squarely rejected the argument:

This we must decline to do, for, in our opinion, it would be a dangerous path to follow. Such a rule could only be in disregard of the universal maxim that ignorance of the law excuses no one. What is more important, it would substitute for a positive rule established by the legislature a variable rule of decision based upon individual ideas of justice conceived by administrative officers as well as by the courts.

Id.

Similarly, the ruling at issue in this case is in conflict with various published Court of Appeals decisions holding that ignorance is not a legally permissible "justification or excuse" which can be invoked as a defense to a claim of negligence. *Mathis v. Ammons*, 84 Wn.App. 411, 928 P.2d 431 (1996). *See also, State v. Leavitt*, 107 Wn.App. 361, 369, 27 P.3d 622 (2001) ("ignorance of the law is no excuse"), *Senn v. Northwest Underwriters, Inc.*, 74 Wn. App. 408, 875 P.2d 637 (1994), and *Wellington River Hollow, LLC v. King County*, 113 Wn.App. 574, 54 P.3d 213(2002). The ruling of the Court of Appeals in *Senn* is instructive:

[W]e find the Supreme Court of New Jersey's reasoning on this issue in Francis v. United Jersey Bank, 87 N.J. 15, 432 A.2d 814 (1981) persuasive and adopt it here. . . . The court reasoned that [b]ecause

directors are bound to exercise ordinary care, they cannot set up as a defense lack of the knowledge needed to exercise the requisite degree of care. If one "feels that he has not had sufficient business experience to qualify him to perform the duties of a director, he should either acquire the knowledge by inquiry, or refuse to act." 87 N.J. at 31 (quoting Campbell v. Watson, 62 N.J. Eq. 396, 416, 50 A. 120 (1901)). The logic of this proposition is irrefutable. One cannot discharge a duty by remaining ignorant of what that duty entails. Just as ignorance of the law is no excuse for the violation of a law, ignorance of the affairs of a business to which one owes a duty of diligence, care and skill does not excuse a director from liability for his or her colleagues' fraud or malfeasance. (Emphasis added).

## 74 Wn.App at 415-417.

The Court of Appeals decision at issue also conflicts with the better reasoned decision of other jurisdictions and commentators. In an analogous case applying a provision of the uniform building code, In *Nettleton v. Thompson*, 117 Idaho 308, 787 P.2d 294 (Idaho Ct. App. 1990), the defendant homeowner invited the plaintiff a potential buyer into the homeowner's house to inspect it. The Plaintiff fell down the stairs and was injured. The Plaintiff sued claiming that the stairs lacked the handrail required by local building code. At trial, the jury was instructed as to "ordinary care" and was allowed to consider whether the defendant "knew nor should have known their maintenance, use and occupancy of the residence was in violation of the Uniform Building Code." The jury returned a special verdict finding that there was no unexcused negligence on the part of the defendant homeowners in maintaining the stairway.

On appeal, the Idaho court of appeals confronted the question at issue here, i.e., whether ignorance of a safety ordinance may serve as an excuse for non-compliance. It

analyzed Idaho's tort law and found that Idaho, like Washington does not impose negligence per se if the actor's conduct is excused. However, ignorance is no excuse, even where the defendant claims, as did defendant Chuckanut Capital here, that government inaction led defendant to believe it was in compliance:

In the present case, the Thompsons contend that their ignorance of U.B.C. requirements constitutes an excuse. Relying closely upon the language of RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS, § 288A(2)(b) (1965), they aver that they neither knew, nor should have known, that the condition of the stairway violated U.B.C. standards. In support of their contentions, the Thompsons argue that their payments of property taxes and the county tax assessor's visits to their home impliedly indicate that the county had approved of the stairway construction. When these facts are considered in light with their ignorance of any defects in the stairway, the Thompsons submit that the trial judge properly instructed the jury on the question of excuse to their violation of the U.B.C.

We disagree. Generally, a defendant may establish excuse or justification for violation of a statute or ordinance if the defendant's conduct could nevertheless be said to fall within the standard of reasonable care under the circumstances. [Citations omitted].

. . .

Implicit in all these decisions is the notion that proof of excuse must be established by more than the violator's ignorance of the law or the violator's subjective belief that his or her conduct was in accord with a reasonable standard of behavior. Rather, these decisions indicate that excuse can only be established by evidence that the individual had an objectively reasonable explanation for violating the law. This reasoning is persuasive; it would be incongruous to permit an alleged tortfeasor to subjectively define the scope or extent of the duty owed under the law. (Emphasis added).

787 P.2d at 297-298.

The reasoning adopted by the Court of Appeals in this case also conflicts with the recent Restatement. Ignorance as a defense of a negligence claim premised upon violation of a statute was discussed in the Restatement (Third) of Torts, § 14, Statutory Violations as Negligence Per Se in language nearly identical to that adopted by the Mathis court, supra:

An actor is negligent if, without excuse, the actor violates a statute that is designed to protect against the type of accident the actor's conduct causes, and if the accident victim is within the class of persons the statute is designed to protect.

The Restatement in § 15 recognizes that there are legally permissible reasons for not complying with a statute, meaning that a violation should not lead to negligence per se. None of the recognized excuses contemplates ignorance of the law:

### § 15. Excused Violations

An actor's violation of a statute is excused and not negligence if:

- (a) the violation is reasonable in light of the actor's childhood, physical disability, or physical incapacitation;
- (b) the actor exercises reasonable care in attempting to comply with the statute;
- (c) the actor neither knows nor should know of the factual circumstances that render the statute applicable;
- (d) the actor's violation of the statute is due to the confusing way in which the requirements of the statute are presented to the public; or
- (e) the actor's compliance with the statute would involve a greater risk of physical harm to the actor or to others than noncompliance.

Comment (a) to § 15 should eliminate any doubt as to whether ignorance of a safety law were a permissible excuse:

a. Background. Negligence per se is a doctrine that has always been applied only to "unexcused" statutory violations. It is essential, then, to elaborate the relevant categories of excuses. The excuses recognized by this Section temper what would otherwise be the severity of negligence per se and also reintroduce a significant role for jury assessments in negligence per se cases. One possible problem with the doctrine of negligence per se is that it neglects the point that legislatures, in adopting statutes that prohibit broad categories of private behavior, typically contemplate that public officials will exercise wise discretion in determining which violations of the statutes warrant the initiation of public proceedings. Recognizing excuses under this Section prevents the negligence per se doctrine from being applied in many of those cases in which public officials might well find it inappropriate to prosecute the person who technically is a law violator.

In light of the extensive list of acceptable excuses, it is useful to set forth circumstances that do not count as an excuse. The violation of a statute is not excused by the fact that the person sincerely or reasonably believes that the requirement set by the statute is excessive or unwise; nor is it an excuse if the person is unaware or ignorant of the statutory requirement; nor is it an excuse if there is a custom to depart from the statutory requirement.

The question before the Court is whether ignorance of the law can serve as a justification or excuse. It cannot. Motion in limine 22 sought by the Saltzbergs at the outset of their trial seeking to preclude defense testimony and legal argument to the contrary should have been granted; and proposed jury instruction 34 directing the jury

not to consider the "ignorance defense" should likewise have been granted at the end of trial. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's decision otherwise.

# VIII. CONCLUSION

If the Petition for Review is granted, the Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals and the trial court's orders on jury verdict, verdict, judgment and other orders, and remand the case for trial.

Appendices 1 and 2 are attached hereto.