# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/31/2019 1:19 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97165-0

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO: 77177-9-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STANLEY SALTZBERG AND DONNA SALTZBERG,

Petitioners,

VS.

# CHUCKANUT CAPITAL, LLC,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brent W. Beecher, WSBA #31095 HACKETT, BEECHER & HART 601 Union St., Suite 2600 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: 206.624.2200

Attorneys for Respondent

# **

# I. Identity of the Respondent

The Respondent is Chuckanut Capital, LLC ("Chuckanut"). Chuckanut was the Defendant at trial, and the Respondent at the Court of Appeals.

# II. Summary of Why the Petition Should Be Denied.

From a rhetorical perspective, it is easy to understand why the Saltzbergs' Petition for Review casts the Court of Appeals' Opinion as an assault on the ancient legal tradition that "ignorance of the law is no excuse." The Saltzbergs misapply this maxim, which is not germane to this case, as will be explained below. But of equal importance, the actual holdings of the Court of Appeals are: 1) That denying the Saltzbergs' motion in limine was within the trial court's discretion based on quotidian concepts of evidentiary fairness; the Saltzbergs had made what Chuckanut "should have known" about the Seattle Municipal Code an issue in the case, and basic fairness permitted testimony to the contrary. And 2) that the Saltzbergs failed to preserve any objection related to the jury instruction at issue. Those two holdings were the decision fulcrums of this case, but the Saltzbergs wish them away by ignoring them in their Petition. The Court of Appeals was correct on these issues, which do not, in any event, invoke grounds for Review under RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny the Petition to Review the unpublished Opinion.

#### III. Restatement of the Case

# 1. Factual history.

Chuckanut Capital, LLC is a real estate investment company owned by Lee Johnson. RP 74. This lawsuit relates to a trip and fall injury on the sidewalk in front of a duplex rental building Chuckanut owns in Madison Park.

Chuckanut purchased this duplex in 2009. RP 74. It bought the property at a distress sale, and closed on it without inspection due to the nature of the sale. RP 74, 70. One feature of the property was a "fixed raised curbing" or kind of brick perimeter running parallel and adjacent to the sidewalk. RP 75. No one knows how long it had been there, but there was evidence that it had already been installed when a prior owner purchased the property in 1991. RP 521. Mr. Johnson was aware of similar conditions on other properties up and down the street: "It's a constant in the neighborhood." RP 79. Chuckanut made no changes to this preexisting brick perimeter until the plaintiff in this case, Mr. Saltzberg, tripped on it. RP 76-77.

As it turns out, unbeknownst to Chuckanut, that brick perimeter was located within the City of Seattle's unmarked right-of-way. RP 77-83. And because the bricks were in the right-of-way, the Seattle Municipal Code requires that they be permitted. If Chuckanut had applied for a

permit, it would likely have been denied because the bricks were not a foot away from the sidewalk, per the standards contained in the Seattle Right-of-Way Improvement Manual. RP 121-123, 137.

Mr. Saltzberg had worked in the neighborhood for 16 years, and had walked in front of the duplex on a regular basis over those years. RP 451. One night, he tripped on the perimeter bricks in front of the house and fell. RP 472. It is undisputed that he suffered significant injury as a result.

At trial, Mr. Johnson testified that he was quite familiar with the corner, but the bricks had never appeared to him to be a hazardous condition. RP 79. He testified that he was not aware of anyone prior to Mr. Saltzberg having tripped on them. RP 77-79. Additionally, he explained that he had never received any notice from the City that the bricks implicated any code violations, and that he did not know that the City's right-of-way even encompassed the piece of land on which the bricks were laid. RP 77-82.

The first Chuckanut knew of a problem with the bricks was when it received a letter from Mr. Saltzberg's attorney in this case, demanding that they be removed. RP 84-85. As soon as Mr. Johnson saw this letter, he went over to the property with a wheelbarrow and removed the bricks. Id.

# 2. Litigation History

Mr. Saltzberg and his wife brought this lawsuit against Chuckanut in King County Superior Court; he for his injuries, and she for loss of consortium. CP 1-5. Prior to the trial, both parties filed motions *in limine*. CP 130, 26. One of those filed by the Saltzbergs requested that the trial court prohibit any testimony regarding the fact that Chuckanut was unaware that the bricks violated the Seattle Municipal Code. CP 130. The court denied that motion, with a notation that Chuckanut's knowledge was relevant to the negligence claim. CP 187 (MiL #22).

Both parties filed proposed jury instructions. One of those proposed by the Saltzbergs was related to the motion *in limine* regarding Chuckanut's knowledge. CP 279. It was an instruction from the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions (Criminal) stating, "A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact when he or she is aware of that fact. It is not necessary that the person know that the fact is defined by law as being unlawful." *Id.* The trial court declined to give this instruction, and the Saltzbergs failed to take exception. Not only did they fail to except, their attorney also acknowledged that he did not like the "language" of his own proposed instruction and mused about the possibility of another variety of "ignorance is no excuse" style instruction.

RP 502-504. He did not, however, propose any such alternative instruction. *Id*.

The trial proceeded, and on the court's instructions, the jury returned a defense verdict. RP 598. The Saltzbergs filed a Motion for New Trial. The court denied that Motion. CP 336. The Saltzbergs timely appealed. CP 342. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished Opinion, and denied the Saltzbergs' Motion for Reconsideration. The Saltzbergs now Petition this Court for Review.

# IV. Argument Why the Saltzbergs' Petition Should be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals Opinion is based on evidentiary fairness and failure to preserve an objection regarding the instruction at issue.

The bases for the decision made by the Court of Appeals represent routine appellate deference to discretionary determinations of the trial court. On appeal, the Saltzbergs have exclusively focused on the trial court's denial of their Motion *in Limine* No. 22, and the trial court's failure to give an "ignorance of the law" instruction that *they acknowledged* was inappropriate to the facts, and withdrew. Both of these decisions are addressed below. Neither merits this Court's Review.

a. The trial court was well within its discretion to deny the motion in limine. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed.

The Court of Appeals found that the trial court acted "unremarkably" and within its discretion when it allowed Chuckanut to present testimony about its knowledge of the code violation, because the Saltzbergs themselves had made that knowledge a centerpiece of their case in chief. Prior to trial, the Saltzbergs consistently intended, and informed the court that they intended, to present the evidence and testimony regarding what Chuckanut "should have known" about the status of the bricks. Trial began on June 26, 2017. RP 6. Three and a half months earlier, on March 7, 2017, the Saltzbergs had filed a Motion for Leave to Introduce Evidence. CP 33. In that Motion, they sought pre-approval for the admission of the following testimony from Mr. Taskey, a Risk Manager for the City of Seattle<sup>1</sup>:

"Further, Plaintiffs wish to present the testimony of Mr. Taskey that the improvements made by the Defendant prior to November 2013 required a permit and compliance with the code; the permit itself *informs the landowner* that compliance with the code is required, and compliance with the code would have required removal of the offending bricks within the 12" right of way."

CP 39-40 (emphasis added).

As part of this motion, the Saltzbergs argued they had the right to admit two Notices from the City informing Chuckanut that the bricks were in violation of the setback requirements. The trial court granted this

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although not so denominated, this was an evidentiary motion in limine.

motion on April 7, 2017.<sup>2</sup> CP 112-113. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the Saltzbergs' stated intention to make knowledge an issue in the lawsuit: knowledge of both the location of the right-of-way, and violation of the setback requirement. CP 61, 77, Opinion at fn. 3. All of this was months *prior* to the trial court's June 26 denial of the Saltzbergs' "no evidence of ignorance" motion *in limine* (MIL #22) on the first day of trial. CP 187. It was the Saltzbergs that made an issue of Chuckanut's knowledge, and it was they who put the Notices in their ER 904 disclosure and reiterated an intent to introduce that evidence on the first day of trial. RP 22. And really, the Saltzbergs had to. Absent a strict liability regime, a landowner's premises liability will always be tied to knowledge of a dangerous condition.<sup>3</sup>

Consequent to winning his March *in limine* motion, Mr. Saltzberg was permitted to present Mr. Taskey's testimony about permit violations and the Notices. That is precisely what he actually did, jumping directly to

٠

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Order resolved competing motions *in limine* on the admission of Mr. Taskey's testimony and the Notices. The Order is denominated an Order Denying Defendant's Motion In Limine to Strike Taskey Testimony, but it grants the relief sought in the Plaintiff's Motion: permitting that testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Smith v. Stockdale, 166 Wn. App. 557, 569, 271 P.3d 917, 924 (2012) (discussing the issue of the landowner's knowledge of a dangerous condition as a well-understood element of premises liability claims). See also: Bills v. Willow Run I Apartments, 547 N.W.2d 693, 694 (Minn. 1996), Lamm v. Bissette Realty, Inc., 327 N.C. 412, 395 S.E.2d 112 (1990) and Singleton v. Collins, 40 Colo. App. 340, 574 P.2d 882 (1978) (holding that knowledge of code requirement prerequisite to premise liability.)

the issue of what Chuckanut knew about the code infraction in the first moments of his opening statement:

Now, before bringing this case to trial we had to look into whether Chuckanut was actually liable to our client. And the first thing we looked at was whether Chuckanut was even aware of its obligation to remove these bricks under these safety rules. In our investigation we learned that Chuckanut is a professional, for profit, property developer. We believe that Chuckanut should have known about its obligations under the law. . .

We believe that if Chuckanut did not know of its obligations it chose not to know by ignoring its requirements to apply for city permits.

RP 53-54 (emphasis added).

This history solidly supports the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Mr. Saltzberg "sought to admit evidence of the premises owner's knowledge..." and it is "[e]ntirely unremarkable that the trial court allowed Chuckanut to introduce evidence on the same topic that Saltzbergs proposed to admit evidence." Opinion at 5. The evidence was relevant – at a minimum – because the Saltzbergs made it so. The Court should deny Review of this "unremarkable" evidentiary ruling.

b. The Saltzbergs abandoned Proposed Instruction No. 34 and failed to preserve any claimed instructional error on appeal.

The Saltzbergs attempt frame the Court of Appeals affirmance of the trial court's refusal to give an "ignorance is no excuse" instruction as an egregious assault on a sacred legal principle. The actual ruling of the Court of Appeals is that the Saltzbergs failed to present a choate, applicable instruction on that issue, and failed to preserve the issue for appeal. Secondarily, the Court of Appeals ruled that the "ignorance is no excuse" maxim is generally inapplicable to the code violation in this case. The Saltzbergs ignore both of these holdings in their Petition, but both entirely undermine grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b); there is no conflict of authority, and there is no issue of substantial public interest.

First, the Saltzbergs' Proposed Instruction No. 34 – a criminal pattern instruction – was abandoned by the Saltzbergs at the trial court, and their failure to take exception to its absence prevents them from pursuing error on appeal. In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals Opinion correctly recited the tortured history of Proposed Instruction No. 34. Opinion at 6-8. The criminal instruction does not fit in the context of a common law premises liability case. 4 *Id.* During colloquy regarding the instructions, the Saltzbergs' attorney acknowledged to the trial court that "we don't really like the language" of the criminal instruction. RP 503. He then orally attempted to persuade the trial court to give a different, but

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals explained that Chuckanut's defense was more nuanced than "ignorance of the law." Opinion at 7, fn. 21. Knowledge of City's setback requirements is only relevant if one also has knowledge of the location of the City's invisible right-of-way in which those rules apply. Chuckanut presented evidence that it did not know the offending brick was within the right-of-way. RP 77-82. That, as the Court of Appeals noted, would be a question of fact in any event. Opinion at 8.

nebulous "ignorance of the law is no excuse" instruction.<sup>5</sup> Id. The Court refused, and then turned to taking formal exceptions. RP 504. The Saltzbergs excepted to the failure to give several of their proposed instructions, but not Proposed Instruction No. 34. RP 504-505. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Saltzbergs' failed to preserve the issue for appeal. Opinion at 7. Failure to take exception is fatal to an appeal of the court's failure to give it, as noted in Goehle v. Fred Hutchinson Ctr., 100 Wn. App. 609, 614-15, 1 P.3d 579, 582-83 (2000). In Goehle, the Court ruled that "If the court fails to give the proposed instruction, the party must take exception to that failure." *Id.* This failure to take exception (as required by CR 51(f)) bars a party from complaining on appeal about the instruction not given. Id. There is no RAP 13.4(b) conflict with precedent nor violation of public interest in requiring the Saltzbergs to comply with Court Rules and established case law regarding the preservation of alleged error in jury instructions.

2. The Saltzbergs are wrong about the core issue in their Petition. Regardless of whether ignorance of the law is an excuse, not all laws are the basis for civil liability. The code governing the illegal brick is not.

The keystone at the center of the Saltzbergs' legal argument is the proposition that the Seattle Municipal Code, violated by the offending

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Oral requests for instructions are insufficient. CR 51(c), (e); *Cowan v. Jensen*, 79 Wn.2d 844, 848, 490 P.2d 436 (1971) (error cannot be based on an oral motion to give instructions).

brick, set the standard of reasonable care for purposes of civil tort liability. It does not. And the fact that it does not is fatal to the Saltzbergs' position. It renders all of their appellate arguments moot, as it provides an alternative ground to affirm the judgment of the trial court.<sup>6</sup> importantly, the Saltzbergs did not challenge the appellate court's resolution of this issue against them in their Petition for Review.<sup>7</sup>

To determine whether a statute or municipal code sets the standard of reasonable care for tort liability, Washington has expressly adopted Restatement (Second) of Torts § 286:

The court may adopt as the standard of conduct of a reasonable man the requirements of a legislative enactment or an administrative regulation whose purpose is found to be exclusively or in part

- (a) to protect a class of persons which includes the one whose interest is invaded, and
- (b) to protect the particular interest which is invaded, and
- (c) to protect that interest against the kind of harm which has resulted, and
- (d) to protect that interest against the particular hazard from which the harm results.

<sup>6</sup> This issue was not presented at the trial court, but appellate courts should affirm on any meritorious theory. Wash. State Commc'n Access Project v. Regal Cinemas, Inc., 173 Wn. App. 174, 206-07, 293 P.3d 413, 430 (2013). State v. Carter, 74 Wn. App. 320, 324 n.2, 875 P.2d 1, 3 (1994)..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Supreme Court generally does not consider issues that were not specifically identified in the Petition. Clam Shacks of Am. v. Skagit Ctv., 109 Wn.2d 91, 98, 743 P.2d 265, 269 (1987).

*Melville v. State*, 115 Wn.2d 34, 37, 793 P.2d 952, 954 (1990).

The court in *Jackson v. City of Seattle*, 158 Wn. App. 647, 650, 244 P.3d 425, 427 (2010) applied §286 in a context very similar to the present one. There, a contractor was alleged to have negligently installed a water line in a hill that later caused a landslide, damaging plaintiff's home. The plaintiff claimed that a violation of the City of Seattle's stormwater code resulted in the damage, and argued that the code established a duty, under tort law, breached by the contractor. The court disagreed, first noting that the plaintiff in a negligence case has the burden of establishing the existence of a duty, and that the use of statutes or codes in negligence cases pertains to that element. *Id.* SMC 22.802.015 required the contractor to stabilize the soils according to rules promulgated by the Director. SMC 22.802.090 made it a civil violation to create a Dangerous Condition:

Dangerous Condition. It is a violation of this subtitle to allow to exist, or cause or contribute to, a condition of a drainage control facility, or condition related to grading, stormwater, drainage or erosion that is likely to endanger the public health, safety or welfare, the environment, or public or private property.

Jackson v. City of Seattle, 158 Wn. App. at 653 (emphasis added).

The court rejected this contention that this statement was enough to trigger §286, recognizing the "lack of language expressing a purpose to

protect a particular class of persons." Then the court stated the baseline rule in this State: "Building codes and other similar municipal codes do not typically serve as a basis for tort liability because they are enacted merely for purposes of public safety or for the general welfare." *Id.* at 654 (emphasis added). The Court looked for a declaration of the basis of the City's intent to deviate from this norm – to determine whether the code was meant to create a private cause of action for violations; the Court found the opposite:

The code specifically states, "It is expressly the purpose of this subtitle to provide for and promote the health, safety and welfare of the general public. This subtitle is not intended to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefitted by its terms." Former SMC 22.800.020(B).

#### *Id.* at 654-55.

Courts, as *Jackson* demonstrates, *do not adopt* every statute or code as the standard of conduct for reasonable people in negligence actions. *Id.* Rather, as a matter of "judicial self-restraint, rooted in part in the theory of separation of powers," they look to the purpose of the code as expressed by its authors. *Id.* Because the authors of the municipal stormwater code expressly *disavowed* an intention to create a "class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or

benefitted<sup>8</sup>," the Court concluded that the code did not *as a matter of law*, establish the standard of care in the negligence action. *Id*. The plaintiff could prove its case only by reference to the usual "reasonable person" standard. *Id*.

The code at issue here does not define the tort liability standard of care. It is Seattle Municipal Code Title 15, the "City's Right of Way Ordinance." CP 130-132. This is the code that the Saltzbergs insist should be the standard of care in this negligence case. The ordinance explicitly states its intent with regard to the use and purpose of Title 15:

It is expressly the purpose of this Street Use Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, safety, and welfare of the general public; and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of this Street Use Ordinance.

SMC 15.02.025(C) (emphasis added)

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